

Since January 2020 Elsevier has created a COVID-19 resource centre with free information in English and Mandarin on the novel coronavirus COVID-19. The COVID-19 resource centre is hosted on Elsevier Connect, the company's public news and information website.

Elsevier hereby grants permission to make all its COVID-19-related research that is available on the COVID-19 resource centre - including this research content - immediately available in PubMed Central and other publicly funded repositories, such as the WHO COVID database with rights for unrestricted research re-use and analyses in any form or by any means with acknowledgement of the original source. These permissions are granted for free by Elsevier for as long as the COVID-19 resource centre remains active. Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

DNA Repair





Review

The ubiquitous role of ubiquitin in the DNA damage response

Abdallah Al-Hakim^a, Cristina Escribano-Diaz^a, Marie-Claude Landry^a, Lara O'Donnell^a, Stephanie Panier^{a,b}, Rachel K. Szilard^a, Daniel Durocher^{a,b,*}

^a Samuel Lunenfeld Research Institute, Mount Sinai Hospital, 600 University Avenue, Toronto, M5G 1X5, ON, Canada
^b Department of Molecular Genetics, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Accepted 5 September 2010 Available online 4 November 2010

ABSTRACT

Protein ubiquitylation has emerged as an important regulatory mechanism that impacts almost every aspect of the DNA damage response. In this review, we discuss how DNA repair and checkpoint pathways utilize the diversity offered by the ubiquitin conjugation system to modulate the response to genotoxic lesions in space and time. In particular, we will highlight recent work done on the regulation of DNA double-strand breaks signalling and repair by the RNF8/RNF168 E3 ubiquitin ligases, the Fanconi anemia pathway and the role of protein degradation in the enforcement and termination of checkpoint signalling. We also discuss the various functions of deubiquitylating enzymes in these processes along with potential avenues for exploiting the ubiquitin conjugation/deconjugation system for therapeutic purposes.

Contents

1.	Preface	1229
2.	Introduction: Principles of protein ubiquitylation	. 1230
3.	Principles of protein SUMOylation	1231
4.	Polyubiquitylation and DNA damage signalling	1231
	4.1. The RNF8 pathway	. 1231
	4.2. Ubiquitin-dependent accumulation of BRCA1 and 53BP1 at DSB sites	1233
	4.3. The RNF8 pathway and gene expression	1234
5.	Monoubiquitylation in response to fork-blocking lesions	. 1234
	5.1. The Fanconi anemia pathway	. 1234
	5.2. The function of PCNA in TLS is controlled through ubiquitylation	. 1235
6.	DNA damage checkpoint control by ubiquitylation	1235
	6.1. SCF ^{BTrCP}	. 1235
	6.2. The anaphase-promoting complex/Cvclosome the APC/C	1235
7.	Deubiquitylating enzymes.	1236
	7.1. Negative regulation of DSB-induced chromatin ubiquitylation	. 1236
	7.2. Regulation of the FANCD2 and PCNA DNA repair pathways	1237
8.	The ubiquitin-proteasome system as a therapeutic target	. 1237
9.	Conclusion	1237
	Conflict of interest statement	1237
	References	. 1237

1. Preface

Similar to phosphorylation, acetylation, glycosylation and other modifications, protein ubiquitylation is a post-translational modification that is utilized to control protein function. The complexity and diversity associated with the ubiquitin conjugation process generates a wide array of means to modulate protein function. For example, it can lead to conformational changes, shifts in sub-



^{*} Corresponding author at: Samuel Lunenfeld Research Institute, Mount Sinai Hospital, Room 1073, 600 University Avenue, Toronto, ON, Canada. Tel.: +1 416 586 4800x2544; fax: +1 416 586 8869.

E-mail address: durocher@lunenfeld.ca (D. Durocher).

^{1568-7864/\$ -} see front matter © 2010 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.dnarep.2010.09.011

cellular localization, modulation of enzyme activity, alteration in protein-protein interactions, or a change in the lifespan of the modified protein. Recently, there has been intense interest regarding the role of ubiquitin and ubiquitin-like molecules in DNA damage repair and signalling, along with its interplay with phosphorylation. In this review, we will illustrate various means by which protein ubiquitylation influences DNA repair and checkpoint control.

2. Introduction: Principles of protein ubiquitylation

Protein ubiquitylation was initially discovered while examining whether there were lysosomal-independent pathways of intracellular protein degradation (reviewed in [1]). The breakthrough occurred during the 1970s in the laboratory of Avram Hershko where he and his graduate student, Aaron Ciechanover studied the ATP-dependent degradation of the tyrosine aminotransferase enzyme. They isolated a protein, named ATP-dependent proteolysis factor 1 (APF-1) [2], which was later identified as the 76-amino acid polypeptide now known as ubiquitin (Ub) [3]. Further work in several laboratories elucidated the process now known as ubiquitylation. Ubiquitylation is a multistep process resulting in the attachment of ubiquitin onto target proteins via the formation of an isopeptide bond between the ubiquitin C-terminus and an amino group on the substrate, most often the ε -amino group of lysine. Ubiquitylation involves the activities of at least three enzymes (Fig. 1A): (i) The ubiquitin-activating enzyme (E1); (ii) the ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme (E2); and (iii) the ubiquitin ligase (E3) [4,5]. Substrate modification is ultimately an ATP-dependent mechanism because the E1 employs ATP to adenylate ubiquitin at its C-terminus, which then forms a thioester bond with the E1 active-site cysteine (depicted as E1~Ub). The modified ubiquitin is then passed on to the E2 enzyme to form another thioester intermediate (the E2~Ub). Finally, ubiquitin is conjugated to its substrate with the aid of an E3 ubiquitin ligase. There are three main types of E3s that are characterised by the presence of either a HECT (homologous to E6-associated protein C-terminus), RING (really interesting



Fig. 1. Ubiquitylation cascade and ubiquitin molecule. (A and B) Schematic representation of the ubiquitylation cascade as it is mediated by the E1, E2 and E3 enzymes and the different types of ubiquitylation (refer to text for details). (C) A high-resolution structure of the ubiquitin molecule (pdb 1ubq). The surface portion containing the indicated lysine residue is shaded red. The two ubiquitin molecules shown are rotated 180° along their *y*-axis relative to each other.

new gene) or U-box (a modified RING motif without the full complement of Zn^{2+} -binding residues) domain [6]. HECT E3s have a direct catalytic activity as they form an intermediate thioester bond between ubiquitin and the catalytic cysteine residue. RING and U-box E3s act rather as scaffolds – they facilitate protein ubiquitylation by bringing the E2 and substrates close together. The process of protein ubiquitylation is a reversible process and is mediated by a family of deubiquitylating enzymes (DUBs) [7,8].

Monoubiguitylation is defined as the addition of a single ubiguitin to a substrate [9]. Moreover, several lysine residues in the substrate can each be tagged with a single ubiquitin molecule, giving rise to multiple monoubiquitylation (often referred to as multi-ubiquitylation) [10,11]. Monoubiquitylation is involved in endocytosis [11], DNA repair and replication [12], transcriptional regulation and modulation of the histone code [13]. A further layer of complexity is introduced when individual ubiquitin molecules are attached to each other, which leads to the formation of ubiquitin chains linked to a single lysine on the substrate [14]. Ubiquitin itself has seven lysine residues (Fig. 1B and C), all of which can potentially participate in chain formation, although ubiquitin K48 (single-letter amino acid codes will be used throughout the text) and K63 are the best-characterized residues involved in polyubiquitylation [15]. Ubiquitin can also form linear chains by linking to the N-terminal amino group [16]. Polyubiquitin chains of at least four K48-linked ubiquitin molecules (UbK48) can efficiently target a conjugated substrate to the proteasome for degradation [17]. Interestingly, the different linkages result in different chain topologies as shown by the structures of di-ubiquitin molecules: K48-linked di-ubiquitin has a closed conformation [18], whereas K63-linked di-ubiquitin has an extended conformation [19]. The distinct topology of K63-linked ubiquitin chains (UbK63) allows this modification to be recognized by specialized ubiquitin-binding domains (UBDs, more on these below) such as the tandem UIM motifs [20,21]. The UbK63 modification is widely used in cellular processes such as DNA repair [12,22–24], signal transduction [25], protein trafficking [26], and ribosomal protein synthesis [27]. In addition to these well-studied types of polyubiquitin chains, there is mounting evidence that all seven types of ubiquitin linkages are employed by the cell [28-30]. In other words, and by analogy to histone modification, there is an emergence of a "ubiquitin code" that will likely play a central role in the DNA damage response. For example, K6-linked chains (UbK6) are likely involved in DNA repair [12,31] whereas K29-linked chains target proteins for lysosomal [32] or proteasomal degradation [33]. Recently, the structure of K11-linked chains (UbK11) was reported to adopt a unique conformation distinct from UbK48, UbK63 or linear chains [34,35]. The anaphase-promoting complex cyclosome (APC/C), a key cell cycle regulator, is the major source of UbK11 chains in the cell, pointing to an important role for these chains in promoting cell cycle-dependent proteasomal degradation [35,36]. Finally, there is increasing evidence for the presence of forked chains, at least in vitro [37]. However, the in vivo abundance or relevance of these heterogeneous chains is not clear [38]. Nevertheless, the possibility of branched ubiquitin chains in addition to the eight types of linear chains increases the potential for diversity of ubiquitylation in an astronomical fashion. The complexity of post-translational modification in the DNA damage response is further elevated with the rising prominence of the small ubiquitin-like modifier, SUMO.

3. Principles of protein SUMOylation

SUMO was first identified in mammals, where it was found to be covalently linked to the GTPase activating protein RanGAP1 (reviewed in [39]). The enzymes involved in the process of protein SUMOylation follow the same enzymatic cascade as ubiquitylation with a SUMO-specific E1 enzyme, an E2, UBC9, and number of E3s such as PIAS1-4, MMS21, RanBP2, Polycomb 2, or TOPORS (reviewed in [40,41]). Mammalian genomes usually have three types of SUMO conjugates (a ubiquitin-like modifier of around \sim 100 amino acid residues): SUMO1, SUMO2 and SUMO3. The latter two SUMOs differ by just three amino acids and are considered to be functionally equivalent; they are often referred to as SUMO2/3 [42]. Despite the differences in primary amino acid sequence and surface charges, these SUMO proteins share their three-dimensional structure and pathway architecture with ubiquitin. In contrast to ubiquitylation, there is a short consensus sequence $\Psi KXE/D$ (where Ψ is a bulky aliphatic residue and X stands for any amino acid) [43] which is frequently, although not always, recognized by UBC9 to facilitate SUMOylation. Two of the three mammalian SUMO isoforms, SUMO2 and SUMO3, have been demonstrated to form poly-SUMO chains [43]. The first physiological substrate reported to be modified by SUMO-SUMO linkage was the histone deacetylase HDAC4 [44]. SUMO is a versatile modification and is involved in the regulation of transcription, in various aspects of genome stability including DNA repair pathways and chromosome segregation, and in the control of nucleocytoplasmic transport (reviewed in [39,41,43]). SUMOylation is reversible through the action of a family of Sentrin/SUMO-specific proteases (SENPs). In mammalian cells six different SENPs belonging to three subfamilies have been identified (reviewed in [46]). Deletion of a number of these SENPs has proven valuable in unravelling some of the in vivo roles of SUMOylation. For instance, knockdown of SENP5 results in the inhibition of cell proliferation and appearance of binucleate cells, suggesting that it may play a role in mitosis and/or cytokenesis [47]. Also, deletion of the murine SENP1 gene leads to the development of severe fetal anemia linked to regulation of the hypoxia-induced factor 1α . a key regulator of erythropoietin transcription [48]. Most recently, an exciting report linked the process of homologous recombination to the action of SENP6 [49]. Indeed, during S-phase the replication protein A (RPA) subunit RPA70 is kept in hypoSUMOylated state through its interaction with SENP6. Upon the induction of replication stress, SENP6 dissociates from RPA70, which rapidly becomes SUMOylated (by a still unknown SUMO-E3 ligase) to facilitate the recruitment of RAD51 to the site of damage. These observations suggest that SUMOylation of RPA70 accelerates it replacement by Rad51 on ssDNA and thus facilitates fork restart through homologous recombination [49].

The involvement of other ubiquitin-like modifiers such NEDD (reviewed in [50]) will not be covered in depth in this review but it potentially expands the repertoire of signals even further. In the next sections, we will survey the role of the various modes of regulation of the DNA damage response by ubiquitylation. We will examine the emerging importance of non-degradative polyubiquitylation as a signalling event in response to DSBs, illustrate the role of monoubiquitylation during interstrand crosslink (ICL) repair and translesion DNA synthesis (TLS), describe how proteasomal degradation regulates checkpoint control, describe examples of the critical roles that DUBs play in these processes, and finally, we will speculate on how targeting the ubiquitin-proteasome system might be used for the pharmacological modulation of the DNA damage response.

4. Polyubiquitylation and DNA damage signalling

4.1. The RNF8 pathway

Among the many types of DNA lesions, DNA double-strand breaks (DSBs) are the most cytotoxic. In response to DSBs, cells mount a response that can be cytologically followed via the accumulation of an ever-growing list of signalling and repair factors on the chromatin that surrounds the DNA break, which is manifest by the formation of distinct subnuclear structures that are referred to as "foci" [51]. Intense work in the past three years has indicated that the assembly of these foci is a hierarchical process that is largely dependent on protein ubiquitylation [52].

The early DSB response utilizes phosphorylation-dependent protein-protein interactions to coordinate DNA damage recognition and signal amplification. DSBs are initially sensed by the MRN (MRE11/RAD50/NBS1) complex and Ku70/80 proteins, which rapidly recruit and activate the Ser/Thr kinases ATM (ataxia telangiectasia mutated) and DNA-PKcs (DNA-dependent protein kinase catalytic subunit), respectively [53-57]. Both kinases are members of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-like kinase (PIKK) family of protein kinases that activate an extensive DNA damage response network that includes, among others, the activation of cell cycle checkpoints and facilitation of DNA repair [58-62]. A critical event that is dependent on ATM and to a lesser extent on DNA-PKcs is the phosphorylation of histone variant H2AX on the Ser139 residue [63–65]. This form of phosphorylated H2AX (γ -H2AX) serves as a DNA damage mark that mediates the subsequent accumulation of signalling proteins at DSB sites. In particular, γ -H2AX is recognized by MDC1 (mediator of DNA damage checkpoint) [66-68], which is itself critical for the focal accumulation of 53BP1 (p53 binding protein 1) and the product of the tumour suppressor gene BRCA1 (breast cancer susceptibility gene 1) [69,70]. Both proteins are important mediators of the DNA damage checkpoint [71-73] and are involved in promoting various aspects of DSB repair [74-80]. The molecular mechanism(s) by which MDC1 promotes the accumulation of these factors remained elusive until the recent identification of a regulatory ubiquitylation cascade that acts on damaged chromatin downstream of MDC1 [52].

The first E3 ubiquitin ligase that acts in this cascade is RING finger protein 8 (RNF8) (Fig. 2A). RNF8 accumulates at DSBs via phospho-dependent interactions between its N-terminal forkheadassociated (FHA) domain and ATM-phosphorylated TQXF motifs on MDC1 [22,81,82]. At damaged chromatin, RNF8 cooperates with the E2 conjugating enzyme UBC13 to ubiquitylate histones that likely include H2A and H2AX [81-83]. It should be emphasized that UBC13 is the only known E2 that catalyzes the formation of UbK63 chains [84], indicating that RNF8-mediated ubiquitylation does not target its substrates for proteasomal degradation. This finding is in line with earlier reports suggesting that non-degradative ubiquitin conjugates accumulate into IR-induced foci [85,86]. Most importantly, UBC13 and the E3 ubiquitin ligase activity of RNF8 are both critical for the re-localization of BRCA1 and 53BP1 to DSB sites (Fig. 2C) [22,81,82,87,88]. Together, these data indicate that RNF8/UBC13-mediated ubiquitylation promotes the recruitment of downstream signalling and repair factors to damaged chromatin. Thus, RNF8 serves as a molecular adaptor that physically integrates phosphorylation- and ubiquitylation-dependent DSB signalling.

Remarkably, RNF8-mediated ubiquitylation is necessary but not sufficient for the sustained assembly of checkpoint and repair factors at DSB sites. Instead, 53BP1 and BRCA1 focus formation also requires the action of a second RING type E3 ubiquitin ligase called RNF168, which acts directly downstream of MDC1 and RNF8 (Fig. 2B) [23,24]. RNF168 accumulates at DSB sites in a manner that is strictly dependent on two motifs termed MIUs (motif interacting with ubiquitin), which recognize RNF8/UBC13-dependent ubiquitin modifications on H2A and H2AX [23,24]. Like RNF8, RNF168 interacts with UBC13 to catalyze histone ubiquitylation and the formation of UbK63 conjugates at DNA lesions (Fig. 2B) [23,24]. Interestingly, there is evidence suggesting that RNF8 and RNF168 add di-ubiquitin moieties to H2A-type histones [23,81,83]. Whether one or both ligases also add longer chains to histones is, in our view, an unresolved question. In this regard, since UbK63 chains clearly assemble at sites of DNA damage, the possible lack of histone

polyubiquitylation would indicate that RNF8 and/or RNF168 also promote the K63-linked ubiquitylation of other yet to be identified substrates in response to DNA damage [52].

The critical importance of the RNF8 pathway for the physiological response to DSBs was first demonstrated by the observation that biallelic mutations in the RNF168 gene cause the RIDDLE syndrome, a radiosensitivity and immunodeficiency disorder [23]. Although RNF8- and RNF168-depleted cells show a mild checkpoint defect after DNA damage and perhaps more significantly, defective DSB repair, particularly in heterochromatin [89] due to their inability to accumulate 53BP1 on damaged chromatin. The cause of the radiosensitivity in RIDDLE cells is still not entirely known. In the case of the immune deficiency, the role of RNF8 and RNF168 is better established due to genetic analyses in mouse and in an in vitro model of class switch recombination (CSR) [90–92]. Indeed, Rnf8-deficient mice are defective in CSR and accumulate unresolved immunoglobulin heavy chain gene-associated DNA breaks. Interestingly, the CSR phenotype of the Rnf8-/- mouse is much milder than that associated with the 53BP1 knockout [77,79] but is epistatic with the phenotype associated with the deletion of H2AX [90]. Mutations in RNF168 are predicted to yield similar results given that knockdown of Rnf168 in the murine B cell line CH12F3-2 results in a CSR defect analogous to that of Rnf8^{-/-} [92].

In addition to these phenotypes, analysis of the *Rnf*8^{-/-} mouse yielded some surprising results. Indeed, *Rnf*8^{-/-} mice show male infertility [90,91,93] due to an inability to ubiquitylate chromatin and promote global nucleosome removal [93]. Interestingly, during spermatogenesis, RNF8-dependent histone ubiquitylation is coupled to acetylation of histone H4 Lys16 (H4K16), raising the possibility that during the response to DNA damage, RNF8/RNF168-dependent chromatin ubiquitylation might similarly be coupled to another histone modification.

An unresolved issue is exactly how the RNF8-RNF168 cascade is organized. Indeed, RNF8 and RNF168 share at least a subset of overlapping substrates (H2A-type histones) suggesting several, not mutually exclusive models of how these two ubiquitin ligases cooperate to increase ubiquitylation in the vicinity of DSBs. In one model, RNF168 recognizes RNF8-mediated di-ubiquitylated histones via its MIU motifs and subsequently propagates the ubiquitylation signal to neighbouring histones, thereby amplifying its own recruitment as well as the DNA damage signal. However in systems such as PCNA ubiquitylation or NF-kB signalling [94,95], it is thought that UBC13 requires substrates that are first mono-ubiquitylated. Therefore, an alternative model to consider consists of RNF8 laying down the first ubiquitin moiety on chromatin, which is then a substrate for elongation by RNF168-UBC13. The most recent work by our laboratory [96] (see section on DUBs, below) seems to tip the balance in the favour of this model although it seems clear to us that a model where RNF8 and RNF168 act exclusively in a linear fashion does not reconcile all the available data.

How RNF8/RNF168-mediated regulatory ubiquitylation facilitates the assembly of signalling and DNA repair factors at sites of damage is also only partially understood. However, it is becoming increasingly clear that one role of the UbK63 (and perhaps UbK6) chains at damaged chromatin is to act as a molecular landing pad for downstream checkpoint and repair proteins that recognize these chains via specialized ubiquitin binding domains. A prime example for this mode of recruitment is RNF168 itself, which relocalizes to sites of damage by binding to ubiquitylated histones via its MIU motifs [23,24,97]. Similarly, the E3 ubiquitin ligase RAD18 has recently been shown to accumulate at DSB sites downstream of RNF8 (and RNF168) in a manner dependent on its UBZ-like zinc finger domain [98]. In vitro, this domain preferentially binds to UbK63 chains, suggesting that RAD18 recognizes RNF8/RNF168catalyzed ubiquitin conjugates at damaged chromatin [98]. RAD18 is therefore a fourth E3 ubiquitin ligase (after RNF8, RNF168 and



Checkpoint signalling and DNA repair

Fig. 2. Model of RNF8/RNF168-mediated regulatory ubiquitylation at DSBs. (a) DNA damage induces the rapid phosphorylation of histone H2AX, which is recognized by the scaffolding protein MDC1. MDC1 itself is also phosphorylated and directly recruits the E3 ubiquitin ligase RNF8 to the DSB site. Chromatin-bound RNF8 then cooperates with the E2 conjugating enzyme UBC13 to ubiquitylate H2A-type histones. This ubiquitylation event is opposed by USP3 and USP16. Note that RNF8 interacts with the E3 ubiquitin ligase HERC2, which likely acts to stabilize the RNF8/UBC13 interaction. (b) Ubiquitylated H2A-type histones are recognized by the E3 ubiquitin ligase RNF168, which then interacts with UBC13 to amplify RNF8-dependent histone ubiquitylation at to catalyze the addition of UbK63 conjugates onto other yet unknown substrates (denoted as "X"). RNF168/UBC13-mediated ubiquitylation is counteracted by OTUB1. (c) RNF8/RNF168-mediated regulatory ubiquitylation in the vicinity of DSBs is critical for the sustained recruitment of downstream checkpoint and repair proteins including BRCA1 and RAD18 (two additional E3 ubiquitin ligases) and 53BP1. BRCC36 is a BRCA1-associated DUB that also counteracts this pathway. See text for details. Ub, ubiquitini: P, phosphorylated residue; Me, methyl group.

BRCA1) that is recruited to DSB sites. The function of RAD18 at DSBs remains elusive but a role in homologous recombination repair seems likely [98].

Recently, the HERC2 ubiquitin ligase, a giant HECT-type E3, was shown to accumulate at sites of DNA damage via an interaction with the FHA domain of RNF8 [99]. Depletion of HERC2 results in a deficient RNF8/RNF168 pathway and the loss of 53BP1 accumulation at DSB sites. The exact function of HERC2 at sites of DNA damage has not been entirely elucidated, but may involve the stabilization of a productive RNF8–UBC13 interaction. Interestingly, stable depletion of HERC2 results in the loss of RNF168 protein, suggesting that loss of HERC2 destabilizes RNF168. The contribution of the loss of the RNF168 protein to the phenotype of HERC2-depleted cells is yet to be tested but we consider it likely that it contributes in some part to the loss of focal accumulation of 53BP1 after irradiation.

The complexity of this pathway does not stop at the level of the five different ubiquitin ligases. Indeed, recent work has highlighted the fact that SUMOylation is required for the assembly of 53BP1 and BRCA1 foci, in particular requiring the action of the SUMO ligases PIAS4 and PIAS1 [100,101] and of UBC9, the SUMO E2. Possible SUMO conjugation targets at sites of DNA damage are 53BP1 and BRCA1, although the accumulation of RNF168 at sites of DNA lesions was also dependent, to some extent, on SUMOylation. While

SUMOylation is clearly important, the critical SUMOylation targets downstream of RNF8 remain to be determined and it will be exciting to uncover how SUMOlyation and ubiquitylation collaborate in this response.

4.2. Ubiquitin-dependent accumulation of BRCA1 and 53BP1 at DSB sites

While BRCA1 does not contain any ubiquitin binding motifs, it accumulates at DSB sites through a phospho-dependent interaction with Abraxas (also known as CCDC98), which in turn binds to the adaptor protein RAP80 (receptor associated protein 80 or UIMC1) [86,102–105]. RAP80 harbours tandem ubiquitininteracting motifs (UIMs) that are critical for BRCA1-Abraxas recruitment [86,88,102,105]. Importantly, the RAP80 tandem UIMs selectively recognize UbK63 chains, but not monoubiquitylated proteins or UbK48 chains [86,102]. Put together, RAP80 tethers its binding partner BRCA1 to DSB sites through its ability to directly interact with UbK63 chains catalyzed by RNF168 [23].

53BP1 does not contain any recognizable ubiquitin binding motifs nor does it interact with proteins that are known to bind ubiquitin specifically at DSB sites. Yet, 53BP1 relies on RNF8/RNF168-mediated regulatory ubiquitylation for its focal accumulation at damaged chromatin [22–24,82,83,88]. How this is achieved mechanistically remains an important unresolved issue. Since 53BP1 accumulates at DSBs via an interaction between its Tudor domain and the methylated Lys20 residue on histone H4 (H4K20) [106], it has been postulated that regulatory ubiquitylation remodels nucleosomes surrounding DSB sites, thereby making the otherwise buried methyl-lysine residues accessible for 53BP1 binding [106]. However, since biophysical studies indicate that proteins can readily probe the buried nucleosome–DNA interface [107], we consider it more likely that a binding event other than that of methylated H4K20 is necessary for 53BP1 accumulation on chromatin [106]. Interestingly, in fission yeast, where the 53BP1 homolog Crb2 also binds to methylated H4K20 but where ubiquitylation is not required, the additional binding requirement is provided by γ -H2AX [108,109].

4.3. The RNF8 pathway and gene expression

Essentially, RNF8 and RNF168 are chromatin-modifying enzymes. As described above, this link is particularly evident during spermatogenesis. Moreover, one of the potential outcomes of RNF8/RNF168 action is histone H2A ubiquitylation, which can be a repressive histone mark and is usually catalyzed by the PRC1 Polycomb complex [110]. Therefore, some levels of cross-talk between RNF8/RNF168 and the Polycomb complex should be expected.

The first indication that the RNF8/RNF168 pathway may be involved in the regulation of gene expression came from an unsuspected source, the herpes simplex virus. In this virus, the ICPO protein, a virally-encoded ubiquitin ligase, plays an important role in controlling the transition between latent and lytic infection by promoting the transcriptional reactivation of the virus. Interestingly, ICPO expression abolishes the focal accumulation of 53BP1 foci after IR treatment but not the formation of the initial y-H2AX mark [111]. Pathway mapping experiments revealed that ICPO expression results in the loss of both RNF8 and RNF168 with a concomitant loss of ubiquitylated histone H2A. The degradation of RNF8, which appears a direct target of ICP0, and the loss of RNF168 is an important outcome of ICPO expression because $Rnf8^{-/-}$ cells restore the ability of ICPO-deficient herpes simplex virus to enter its lytic phase [111]. While one possibility is that this viral subversion modulates the DNA damage response, perhaps a more likely scenario is that ICPO blocks the transcriptional repression of the latent virus by removing two enzymes that participate in the establishment of silenced chromatin.

The role of the RNF8 pathway in transcriptional repression was recently demonstrated in an elegant series of experiments in human cells, using a real-time fluorescence reporter of RNA transcription [112]. In this system, a DSB was inducibly generated in the proximity of a reporter gene expressing a transcript encoding a protein tagged with the phage coat protein recognition sequence MS2 (YFP-MS2). Expression of MS2-YFP monitors transcription at the site of the break, which is itself labelled by RFP. In this system, the generation of a DSB resulted in potent transcriptional repression that was dependent on ATM as well as the RNF8 and RNF168 proteins [112]. Intriguingly, the derepression of the transgene following the induction of a DSB required the co-depletion of RNF8 and RNF168, suggesting that both ligases may not work in a linear pathway with respect to transcriptional silencing. Since the RNF8/RNF168-dependent silencing appears to be dependent on histone H2A monoubiquitylation, these results might suggest that both ligases are able to carry out this reaction. The significance of this pathway is not clear but may represent an innate defence mechanism against the insertion of foreign DNA, such as viruses or transposons, into the genome.

5. Monoubiquitylation in response to fork-blocking lesions

5.1. The Fanconi anemia pathway

Fanconi anemia (FA) is an autosomal or X-linked disease, characterized by cancer susceptibility and various developmental abnormalities [113]. One of the cellular hallmarks of FA cells is a hypersensitivity to interstrand crosslink (ICL)-inducing agents, such as mitomycin C (MMC) or cisplatin [114,115]. The genes mutated in the multiple FA complementation groups code for constituents of a DNA repair pathway that plays a key role in sensing and repairing ICLs [116,117].

The activation of the FA pathway is characterized by the monoubiquitylation of the FANCD2 and FANCI proteins [118–123] by a multi-subunit ubiquitin ligase often referred to as the "core complex" [117,124]. The actual E3 ubiquitin ligase catalytic component of this core complex is FANCL [125], which partners with the E2 ubiquitin conjugating enzyme, UBE2T [118,120]. FANCD2 and FANCI form a heterodimeric complex referred to here as the "ID complex" [117]. Both proteins are similar in their overall size and domain architecture and are monoubiquitylated on residues K561 and K523, respectively [119,121–123]. Monoubiquitylation of the ID complex is evolutionarily conserved and, at least for FANCD2, is fundamental to the proper functioning of the FA pathway. In fact, the majority of identified FA clinical cases are characterized by an inactivation of FANCD2 monoubiquitylation [117].

FANCD2 monoubiquitylation results in the relocalization of the ID complex into subnuclear foci that likely represent ICL sites [119,121,122,126]. Mutations that inhibit FANCD2 monoubiquitylation either by directly mutating K561 on FANCD2, or perturbing core complex assembly, result in a loss of FANCD2 foci and defective ICL repair [119,127]. These findings underlie the importance of monoubiquitylation with respect to the proper functioning of the FA pathway and specifically with the proper targeting of FANCD2 to sites of damage. How monoubiquitylation translates into the loading of FANCD2/FANCI onto chromatin is still unclear. For example, it is not known whether monoubiquitylation of the ID complex promotes its interaction with a chromatinbound ubiquitin receptor or whether this modification enables the ID complex to bind DNA directly. Another notable feature of ID complex recruitment to chromatin is the crosstalk between monoubiquitylation and phosphorylation. In a study using the avian DT40 cell line, FANCI monoubiquitylation was shown to be dispensable for FA pathway function while its phosphorylation by ATR was not [128]. Indeed, phosphorylation of FANCI induces FANCD2 monoubiquitylation, and FANCI phosphomimetic mutations result in constitutive FANCD2 monoubiquitylation [128]. This study demonstrated that phosphorylation of one protein can promote the monoubiquitylation of another. The exact mechanism linking FANCI phosphorylation with FANCD2 monoubiquitylation is still unclear but an intriguing possibility is that phosphorylated FANCI prevents deubiquitylation of FANCD2 [129].

The discovery of the nuclease FAN1 (Fanconi/FANCD2 associated nuclease 1) recently bridged an important gap in our understanding of the role of ID complex ubiquitylation. FAN1 was found to interact with the ubiquitylated ID complex in response to MMC [130–134]. This interaction occurs via a UBZ-like domain that bears similarity to that of RAD18. Since the FAN1 nuclease activity and its recruitment to ICLs via FANCD2 monoubiquitylation are both critical for ICL repair [121,131–133], this recent work suggested a model where the monoubiquitylated ID complex promotes nuclease-dependent processing of the ICL lesion. Although the exact mechanism of FAN1 action at ICL sites remains to be elucidated, it is evident that ID complex monoubiquitylation is important at both early and late stages of the FA pathway. An exciting future avenue of research will be to determine whether

other factors are recruited to ICLs by recognizing FANCD2/FANCI monoubiquitylation.

5.2. The function of PCNA in TLS is controlled through ubiquitylation

The presence of DNA lesions during S-phase that block the progression of replication forks is a major challenge to the cell. If not dealt with, blocked replication forks can collapse, resulting in DSBs that can lead to cell death or genome rearrangements. To circumvent these problems, cells have developed means of bypassing lesions. One such pathway is translesion DNA synthesis (TLS) which is dependent on the switching from replicative polymerases to "translesion polymerases", which can replicate past specific DNA lesions [135]. While this enables replication to ensue, a major caveat of TLS is that it can be error-prone, as many translesion polymerases have low fidelity. In addition to TLS, at least one additional pathway allows replication past DNA lesions using a process termed "error-free bypass". This process will not be discussed in detail here but is thought to employ template switching, allowing for the recombination-mediated restart of the fork [136]. Regardless of the mode of bypass, both processes are regulated through ubiquitylation of the DNA sliding clamp, PCNA (proliferating cell nuclear antigen) [137].

In response to DNA damage as well as stalled replication forks, PCNA is ubiquitylated at a conserved lysine (K164) [137]. K164 ubiquitylation can either take the form of monoubiquitylation or K63-linked polyubiquitylation [137]. In budding yeast, PCNA (POL30) monoubiquitylation is dependent on the action of the E2 ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme Rad6 and the Rad18 RING fingercontaining E3 ubiquitin ligase [137,138]. PCNA polyubiquitylation, on the other hand, involves the combined efforts of Rad6, Rad18 and the Rad5 ubiquitin ligase, which in turn, recruits the heterodimeric E2 enzyme UBC13/MMS2 to catalyze UbK63 chains [137,139]. It still remains unclear whether PCNA monoubiquitylation is a prerequisite for polyubiquitylation although it seems likely.

How cells make the decision between error-prone TLS versus the error-free bypass pathway is still an unresolved issue. Several elegant studies in yeast suggest that the choice may depend specifically on the type of lesion being bypassed [140,141]. Nevertheless, monoubiquitylated PCNA activates TLS while polyubiquitylated PCNA activates error-free bypass. The polymerase switch that underlies TLS is mediated through the recognition of monoubiquitylated PCNA by TLS polymerases. For example, monoubiquitylated PCNA specifically recruits the Y-family polymerases Pol η (Rad30) and Pol ζ (Rev3/Rev7) [138,142,143]. These TLS polymerases contain PIP boxes, a PCNA binding motif, as well as ubiquitin binding domains (UBM or UBZ) that allow them to recognize the modified form of PCNA [144,145]. Thus, similar to the FA pathway, monoubiquitylation plays an integral role in TLS at both the early activation of the pathway and for the downstream functioning of the pathway.

6. DNA damage checkpoint control by ubiquitylation

The DNA damage checkpoint is a cellular response to DNA damage that arrests or slows down cell cycle progression. The checkpoint allows time for the adequate repair of DNA prior to entering the next cell cycle phase. In mammalian cells, the ATM-CHK2 and ATR-CHK1 kinase pathways play central roles in signalling checkpoint arrest [146]. Although multiple mechanisms are involved in the regulation of checkpoint activation, the main post-translational mechanisms implicated are phosphorylation and ubiquitylation [147,148].

The ultimate target of the checkpoint pathway is the heart of the cell cycle engine, the cyclin-dependent kinases (CDKs). However, CDKs themselves are not targeted by checkpoint kinases such as ATM or CHK1. Rather, the checkpoint modulates CDK regulators such as cyclins, CDK inhibitors (CKIs) and the CDC25 family of dual-specificity phosphatases. Depending on cell cycle position and possibly on the cell type, the checkpoint apparatus will target one or more of these CDK regulators to impose a block on cell cycle progression. Below, we will illustrate how ubiquitylation is called upon to enforce or terminate checkpoint signalling [149].

Two classes of ubiquitin ligases are intimately linked to checkpoint control owing to their central roles as regulators of cell cycle progression. These are the SCF (SKP1/Cul1/F-box) and the APC/C complexes. These multi-protein complexes are composed of a scaffold protein with cullin homology (Cul1 in SCF and Apc2 in APC/C), an adaptor protein (Skp1 in SCF and a multiprotein complex in APC/C) and a catalytic RING finger protein (Roc1/Rbx1/Hrt1 in SCF and Apc11 in APC/C). In addition to these stable components, both complexes contain a variable subunit that confers substrate specificity (F-box proteins in SCF and CDH1 or CDC20 in APC/C) (reviewed in [150,151]).

6.1. $SCF^{\beta TrCP}$

The CDC25A phosphatase is a critical target of the DNA damage checkpoint. In response to DNA damage or stalled replication forks, CDC25A is degraded by the ubiquitin-proteasome system [152,153], which results in CDK inhibition and cell cycle arrest. DNA damage-induced degradation of CDC25A is dependent on the F-box-containing protein BTrCP and depends on phosphorylation of CDC25A by CHK1/CHK2 [152,154,155]. CHK1/CHK2-dependent phosphorylation of CDC25A facilitates its recognition by SCF^{β TrCP} [156,157]. Interestingly, CHK1 and CHK2 do not directly phosphorylate the degron motif recognized by β TrCP [158,159] but rather prime CDC25A for the action of a second kinase, which phosphorylates Ser82, a residue located within the degron sequence. Casein kinase 1α and NEK11 kinases are strong candidate Ser82-kinases [160–162]. This elegant mode of regulation emphasizes an intimate interplay between phosphorylation and ubiquitylation for the enforcement of checkpoint arrest.

SCF^{βTrCP} also controls the ubiquitin-dependent degradation of CLASPIN [163–165] to modulate the termination of checkpoint signalling, a process termed checkpoint recovery. CLASPIN is a checkpoint mediator required for CHK1 activation by ATR [166–169]. During the initial phase of DNA damage signalling, CHK1 phosphorylates CLASPIN and stabilizes it, leading to a feed-forward mechanism that enforces the cell cycle arrest [165,170]. However, following DNA repair, the Polo-like PLK1 kinase phosphorylates CLASPIN at its degron motif, creating a β TrCP binding site that induces its ubiquitylation and degradation [163–165]. In turn, the lower levels of CLASPIN reduce CHK1 activity, leading to checkpoint recovery. Thus β TrCP can participate in the promotion and the abatement of the checkpoint arrest.

6.2. The anaphase-promoting complex/Cyclosome the APC/C

The APC/C is an E3 ubiquitin ligase that is active during M and G1 phases of the cell cycle. The APC/C assembles polyubiquitin chains (at least a subset of which are UbK11-linked chains) on substrates, targeting them for degradation by the proteasome (reviewed in [171]). The APC/C exists in two forms specified by its association with the CDC20 or CDH1 subunits, leading to APC/C^{CDC20} and APC/C^{CDH1}, respectively. APC/C^{CDH1} activity maintains the G1 state, by inhibiting DNA replication initiation and by restraining CDK activity, while APC/C^{CDC20} is required for progression through mitosis [151]. Unlike SCF complexes, the APC/C usually recognizes

unmodified motifs in its substrates that include the D- and KENboxes [172,173]. Not surprisingly, the activity of the APC/C is highly regulated. For example, CDC20 and CDH1 levels are regulated by ubiquitin-dependent proteolysis, the association of the APC/C subunits with CDC20 and CDH1 are modulated by phosphorylation and the activity of the APC/C is modulated by the EMI1 pseudosubstrate (reviewed in [174]).

In mammalian cells, the APC/C regulates the G1 and G2/M DNA damage checkpoints [175,176]. In G1, the APC/C (likely involving CDH1) is part of a p53-independent checkpoint response that targets the degradation of cyclin D1 [175]. However, it remains unclear how cyclin D degradation is triggered by DNA damage. In the case of the G2/M checkpoint, this pathway requires activation of APC/C^{CDH1} after DNA damage, independently of ATM, which is achieved by the translocation of the phosphatase CDC14B from the nucleolus to the nucleoplasm where it can dephosphorylate CDH1. Dephosphorylated CDH1 can then associate with and activate the APC/C. An important target of the APC/C^{CDH1} is PLK1, leading to CLASPIN stabilization and maintenance of CHK1 activity. Interestingly, CLASPIN, despite being a target of the APC/C^{CDH1} in G1, is stabilized in G2 because it is deubiquitylated by USP28 [176,177]. The complexity of this regulation does not stop there since as mentioned above, CLASPIN is the subject of BTRCP-dependent degradation during checkpoint recovery, and this event can be counteracted by another DUB, USP7 [178].

7. Deubiquitylating enzymes

Like most post-translational modifications, ubiquitylation is a dynamic and reversible process dependent on a specific class of proteases called the deubiquitylating enzymes (DUBs). In addition to the DUBs USP28 and USP7 discussed above, the action of these enzymes is becoming a pervasive feature of the modulation of DNA damage signalling and repair.

The human genome encodes nearly 100 DUBs that are predicted to be active and responsible for the processing of ubiquitin precursors, the disassembly of unanchored polyubiquitin chains and the removal of ubiquitin or polyubiquitin from target proteins [7]. DUBs are divided into five families based on their mechanism of catalysis and phylogeny. The first four families are papain-like cysteine proteases and include the ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolases (UCHs), the ubiquitin-specific proteases (USPs), the ovarian tumour proteases (OTUs) and the Josephins. The fifth family are zinc-dependent metalloproteases and members of the JAB1/MPN/MOV34 metalloenzymes (JAMMs; also known as MPN+ and hereafter referred to as JAMM/MPN+). The enzymatic activity and structural characteristics of each DUB family have been specifically discussed in several earlier reviews [7,179–181].

The diversity of DUB families and abundance of individual members suggests a high degree of specificity both in terms of substrate and ubiquitin chain-type recognition. The catalytic core domain of the DUBs is responsible for the recognition and proper positioning of the ubiquitin substrate [181,182]. Structural studies of DUBs solved in both the free form and bound to ubiquitin or ubiquitinbased inhibitors revealed that active site rearrangements occur upon binding to ubiquitin and that these changes are required for binding and to catalyze hydrolysis [181]. In addition to their catalytic domain, DUBs contain various domains that modulate their substrate specificity and cellular localization. These domains, which include ubiquitin-binding and protein-protein interaction domains, contribute to the recognition and binding of different ubiquitin chain linkages and direct the assembly of molecular complexes required for the DUBs' physiological functions [183]. Most of the DUBs identified to date display some degree of specificity towards K48 and/or K63 ubiquitin linkages although some are

highly specific. For example, OTUB1 is highly specific for UbK48 chains [184,185] whereas AMSH displays a striking selectivity for UbK63 chains [182,184–187]. This situation is unlikely to be limited to UbK48/63 chains since recent work identified Cezanne as the first DUB with selectivity for K11 linkages [34].

To date, at least 7 DUBs have been involved in DNA damage signalling and antagonize the ubiquitin synthesis activity of E3ubiquitin ligases. Below, we will review only a few examples that illustrate the diversity of regulation by this enzyme family.

7.1. Negative regulation of DSB-induced chromatin ubiquitylation

As mentioned before, the E3 ubiquitin ligases RNF8 and RNF168 play a central role in the orchestration of the DSB response by catalyzing the formation of UbK63 chains on the chromatin surrounding the DNA lesion [22–24,52]. To date, three DUBs, namely BRCC36, USP3 and OTUB1, have been proposed to negatively regulate this pathway (Fig. 2).

The BRCC36 (BRCA1/BRCA2-containing complex subunit 36) belongs to the JAMM/MPN+ DUB subfamily and has been reported to hydrolyze UbK63 polymers with high specificity [86,188,189]. Following irradiation, BRCC36 is recruited to DNA damage sites as part of the RAP80 complex [86]. The presence of a UbK63 DUB within the RAP80 complex suggests that it simultaneously targets both ubiquitin synthesis and breakdown activities to DSBs. Supporting this model, BRCC36 depletion increases DSB-associated conjugated ubiquitin and 53BP1 accumulation at DSB sites [189]. Furthermore, the same conditions partially restored normal conjugated ubiquitin and 53BP1 foci following RFN8 depletion [189]. While these results suggest that BRCC36 is a negative regulator of the RNF8/168 pathway, BRCC36 might also act as a ubiquitinediting enzyme that prunes UbK63 chains to allow ubiquitylation by BRCA1/BARD1. Interestingly, BRCC36 is also part of a complex related in composition to the RAP80 complex, called BRISC [21,102,189,190], which is primarily located in the cytoplasm.

The ubiquitin specific protease 3 (USP3) has also been proposed to be a DUB capable of reverting DSB-induced chromatin ubiquitylation. USP3 belongs to the USP DUB subfamily and dynamically associates with chromatin where its binds and deubiquitylates H2A both *in vivo* and *in vitro* [191]. Moreover, overexpression of USP3 abolished RAP80 and 53BP1 relocalization into IR-induced foci without affecting RNF8 retention at the same sites [24]. In this context, overexpression of wild-type USP3, but not its catalytically inactive mutant, prevented the IR-induced focus formation of RNF168, emphasizing the requirement of UPS3 cysteine protease activity to reverse the DSB ubiquitin response at the level of RNF8 [24].

A DUB with similar specificity to USP3 is the UBP-M/USP16 protein. USP16 is important for mitosis and in particular, the deubiquitylation of histone H2A [192,193]. The mitotic function of USP16 during mitosis is entirely in line with the recent observation that the RNF8/RNF168 pathway is down-regulated in mitosis, at the level of RNF8 [194]. Moreover, USP16 is a potent antagonist of Polycomb-dependent repression of gene expression [192] and was recently shown to be a DUB that enables the de-repression of gene transcription following DSB repair [112]. USP16 and USP3 therefore are two DUBs that antagonize the DSB response at the level of histone deubiquitylation. A major challenge in the future will be to elucidate the function of each enzyme in the regulation of the RNF8 pathway.

Finally, the DUB OTUB1 was recently demonstrated to be a negative regulator of DSB-induced chromatin ubiquitylation [195]. In contrast to BRCC36, USP16 and USP3, OTUB1 inhibits the DSB ubiquitin response downstream of RNF8, at the level of RNF168. This finding was paradoxical since OTUB1 is a selective DUB against UbK48 chains whereas RNF168 catalyzes the conjugation

of UbK63 chains on chromatin. Remarkably, the ability of OTUB1 to inhibit RNF168-dependent ubiquitylation was independent of its catalytic activity, suggesting an unusual mechanism of action. Further characterization of this mechanism demonstrated that OTUB1 directly binds and consequently inhibits a related subclass of E2 enzymes that include UBC13, the only known E2 that cooperates with RNF168 during the DNA damage response [23,195]. OTUB1 recognizes the charged form of E2 enzymes, indicating that it recognizes E2s that are poised for catalysis. This study suggests that E2 regulation can be an important means to modulate the DNA damage response and other cellular pathways. Remarkably, depletion of OTUB1 restored a pharmacologically disabled DSB response, indicating that targeting the OTUB1-E2 interaction might be an attractive route for the development of agents that bolster DSB repair.

7.2. Regulation of the FANCD2 and PCNA DNA repair pathways

Another important example of the role played by DUBs in DNA repair relates to USP1, a DUB that modulates both FANCD2/FANCI and PCNA ubiquitylation [196,197]. In the case of the latter, USP1 activity clearly has a functional impact on PCNA-dependent post-replicative repair pathways. For example, USP1 influences the relocalization of the TLS polymerase Pol η into UV-induced foci, and USP1 depletion increases both spontaneous and damage-induced mutagenesis [197,198].

In the case of the FA pathway, the situation is slightly different. The disruption of the USP1 gene in the avian DT40 system recapitulated the accumulation of monoubiquitylated FANCD2 and PCNA but, unexpectedly, increased cell sensitivity to ICLs while having a negligible impact on mutagenesis [199]. Genetic dissection of the hypersensitivity to crosslinking agents revealed that the constitutive accumulation of monoubiquitylated FANCD2 on chromatin was most likely responsible for this phenomenon. Supporting a functional role of USP1 in the FANCD2-mediated DNA repair response, it was recently shown that genetic ablation of the murine Usp1 gene phenocopied a strong FA phenotype in mice, including ICL hypersensitivity and chromosomal instability [200]. Together this data suggests that while being negative regulators of ubiquitylation, DUBs are not always negative regulators of the pathway they are involved in. Indeed, the involvement of a dynamic ubiquitin conjugation/deconjugation system might be an essential component of numerous ubiquitin-dependent pathways.

8. The ubiquitin-proteasome system as a therapeutic target

The ubiquitin-proteasome system has emerged as an important avenue for pharmacological intervention. To date, owing to the fact that E3 ubiquitin ligases promote ubiquitylation primarily as adaptors between the E2 and the substrate, the identification of E3-specific small molecules has proven to be difficult. However, the success of drugs such as Velcade (bortezomib, a proteasome inhibitor) suggests that there will be benefits in actively pursuing drug development in the realm of the ubiquitin-proteasome system. Recently, the cullin-regulated ligases (CRLs), which include ligases such as SCF complexes, have garnered much attention as potential "druggable" targets. A number of recent reports have described small molecules that target cullin-based E3s. Perhaps one of the most fruitful approaches has been based on the need for cullins to be modified by the ubiquitin-like modifier NEDD8 for their activity [201]. This has led to the development of a specific $E1^{\text{NEDD}}$ inhibitor, MLN4924, which inhibits the entire CRL subfamily [201,202]. Interestingly, the CRLs themselves might also be tractable as drug target. Indeed, the cereblon (CRBN)-anchored CRL was recently shown to be the primary target that promotes thalidomide teratogenicity, suggesting that pharmacological modulation of CRLs is feasible. This was recently further exemplified by the identification of selective inhibitors of the SCF^{Cdc4} and SCF^{MET30} ligases [203,204].

Alternatively, targeting the DUB family of enzymes might prove to be a more fruitful endeavor since these enzymes contain welldefined catalytic pockets that makes them amenable to screening with libraries of small molecule inhibitors [180]. Inhibitors of the UCH family of DUBs have been reported with modest selectivity and affinity [205,206]. More encouragingly, there has been good progress in developing inhibitors of the SARS coronavirus DUB PLpro [207], confirming the potential of the DUB family as the most druggable protein family in the ubiquitin–proteasome system.

9. Conclusion

Despite the great strides made in understanding the role of ubiquitylation in the DNA damage response, much is yet to be discovered. A particular gap in our knowledge is the identity of the physiological targets of the RNF8/RNF168/BRCA1 pathway. Indeed, despite histones being singled out as potential targets of the pathway, there is still disagreement as to what type of ubiquitylation is carried out on histones in response to DSBs, whether multiple types of histones are ubiquitylated and what the functional consequences of histone ubiquitylation are during the DNA damage response. Furthermore, we are only beginning to uncover how ubiquitindependent processes are integrated and regulated. For example, in keeping with the RNF8 pathway, SUMOylation has recently been shown to modulate this ubiquitin-dependent signalling cascade but it remains unclear how exactly SUMO may modulate RNF8. RNF168 or BRCA1. A similar paradigm will likely apply to a number of other DNA damage-associated pathways where ubiquitin participates. In fact, it is highly likely that other types of post-translational modifications will add further layers of complexity to the response to DNA damage and a major challenge for the future will be to integrate all these signals to develop a coherent model of the orchestration of the DNA damage response in time and space.

Conflict of interest statement

There is no conflict of interest.

References

- A. Ciechanover, Intracellular protein degradation: from a vague idea thru the lysosome and the ubiquitin-proteasome system and onto human diseases and drug targeting, Hematology Am. Soc. Hematol. Educ. Program 1 (2006), p. 1–12, 505–6.
- [2] A. Ciechanover, Y. Hod, A. Hershko, A heat-stable polypeptide component of an ATP-dependent proteolytic system from reticulocytes, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 81 (4) (1978) 1100–1105.
- [3] K.D. Wilkinson, M.K. Urban, A.L. Haas, Ubiquitin is the ATP-dependent proteolysis factor I of rabbit reticulocytes, J. Biol. Chem. 255 (16) (1980) 7529–7532.
- [4] A. Hershko, et al., Components of ubiquitin-protein ligase system, Resolution, affinity purification, and role in protein breakdown, J. Biol. Chem. 258 (13) (1983) 8206–8214.
- [5] A. Ciechanover, et al., "Covalent affinity" purification of ubiquitin-activating enzyme, J. Biol. Chem. 257 (5) (1982) 2537–2542.
- [6] L.A. Passmore, D. Barford, Getting into position: the catalytic mechanisms of protein ubiquitylation, Biochem. J. 379 (Pt 3) (2004) 513–525.
- [7] S.M. Nijman, et al., A genomic and functional inventory of deubiquitinating enzymes, Cell 123 (5) (2005) 773–786.
- [8] M.E. Sowa, et al., Defining the human deubiquitinating enzyme interaction landscape, Cell 138 (2) (2009) 389–403.
- [9] L. Hicke, Protein regulation by monoubiquitin, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell. Biol. 2 (3) (2001) 195–201.
- [10] Y. Mosesson, et al., Endocytosis of receptor tyrosine kinases is driven by monoubiquitylation, not polyubiquitylation, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (24) (2003) 21323–21326.
- [11] K. Haglund, P.P. Di Fiore, I. Dikic, Distinct monoubiquitin signals in receptor endocytosis, Trends Biochem. Sci. 28 (11) (2003) 598–603.

- [12] T.T. Huang, A.D. D'Andrea, Regulation of DNA repair by ubiquitylation, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell. Biol. 7 (5) (2006) 323–334.
- [13] A. Shilatifard, Chromatin modifications by methylation and ubiquitination: implications in the regulation of gene expression, Annu. Rev. Biochem. 75 (2006) 243–269.
- [14] C.M. Pickart, Mechanisms underlying ubiquitination, Annu. Rev. Biochem. 70 (2001) 503-533.
- [15] K. Haglund, I. Dikic, Ubiquitylation and cell signaling, EMBO J. 24 (19) (2005) 3353–3359.
- [16] T. Kirisako, et al., A ubiquitin ligase complex assembles linear polyubiquitin chains, EMBO J. 25 (20) (2006) 4877–4887.
- [17] J.S. Thrower, et al., Recognition of the polyubiquitin proteolytic signal, EMBO J. 19 (1) (2000) 94-102.
- [18] R. Varadan, et al., Structural properties of polyubiquitin chains in solution, J. Mol. Biol. 324 (4) (2002) 637–647.
- [19] R. Varadan, et al., Solution conformation of Lys63-linked di-ubiquitin chain provides clues to functional diversity of polyubiquitin signaling, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (8) (2004) 7055–7063.
- [20] Y. Sato, et al., Structural basis for specific recognition of Lys 63-linked polyubiquitin chains by tandem UIMs of RAP80, EMBO J. 28 (16) (2009) 2461– 2468.
- [21] J.J. Sims, R.E. Cohen, Linkage-specific avidity defines the lysine 63-linked polyubiquitin-binding preference of rap80, Mol. Cell. 33 (6) (2009) 775– 783.
- [22] N.K. Kolas, et al., Orchestration of the DNA-damage response by the RNF8 ubiquitin ligase, Science 318 (5856) (2007) 1637–1640.
- [23] G.S. Stewart, et al., The RIDDLE syndrome protein mediates a ubiquitindependent signaling cascade at sites of DNA damage, Cell 136 (3) (2009) 420–434.
- [24] C. Doil, et al., RNF168 binds and amplifies ubiquitin conjugates on damaged chromosomes to allow accumulation of repair proteins, Cell 136 (3) (2009) 435–446.
- [25] N.L. Chan, C.P. Hill, Defining polyubiquitin chain topology, Nat. Struct. Biol. 8 (8) (2001) 650–652.
- [26] L. Hicke, R. Dunn, Regulation of membrane protein transport by ubiquitin and ubiquitin-binding proteins, Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 19 (2003) 141–172.
- [27] J. Spence, et al., Cell cycle-regulated modification of the ribosome by a variant multiubiquitin chain, Cell 102 (1) (2000) 67–76.
- [28] A.K. Al-Hakim, et al., Control of AMPK-related kinases by USP9X and atypical Lys(29)/Lys(33)-linked polyubiquitin chains, Biochem. J. 411 (2) (2008) 249–260.
- [29] J. Peng, et al., A proteomics approach to understanding protein ubiquitination, Nat. Biotechnol. 21 (8) (2003) 921–926.
- [30] P. Xu, et al., Quantitative proteomics reveals the function of unconventional ubiquitin chains in proteasomal degradation, Cell 137 (1) (2009) 133–145.
- [31] H. Nishikawa, et al., Mass spectrometric and mutational analyses reveal Lys-6-linked polyubiquitin chains catalyzed by BRCA1–BARD1 ubiquitin ligase, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (6) (2004) 3916–3924.
- [32] P. Chastagner, A. Israel, C. Brou, Itch/AIP4 mediates Deltex degradation through the formation of K29-linked polyubiquitin chains, EMBO Rep. 7 (11) (2006) 1147–1153.
- [33] E.S. Johnson, et al., A proteolytic pathway that recognizes ubiquitin as a degradation signal, J. Biol. Chem. 270 (29) (1995) 17442–17456.
- [34] A. Bremm, S.M. Freund, D. Komander, Lys11-linked ubiquitin chains adopt compact conformations and are preferentially hydrolyzed by the deubiquitinase Cezanne, Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 17 (8) (2010) 939–947.
- [35] M.L. Matsumoto, et al., K11-linked polyubiquitination in cell cycle control revealed by a K11 linkage-specific antibody, Mol. Cell. 39 (3) (2010) 477–484.
- [36] L. Jin, et al., Mechanism of ubiquitin-chain formation by the human anaphasepromoting complex, Cell 133 (4) (2008) 653–665.
- [37] H.T. Kim, et al., Certain pairs of ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes (E2s) and ubiquitin-protein ligases (E3s) synthesize nondegradable forked ubiquitin chains containing all possible isopeptide linkages, J. Biol. Chem. 282 (24) (2007) 17375–17386.
- [38] D. Komander, The emerging complexity of protein ubiquitination, Biochem. Soc. Trans. 37 (Pt 5) (2009) 937–953.
- [39] R.T. Hay, SUMO: a history of modification, Mol. Cell. 18 (1) (2005) 1-12.
- [40] S. Bergink, S. Jentsch, Principles of ubiquitin and SUMO modifications in DNA repair, Nature 458 (7237) (2009) 461–467.
- [41] J.R. Morris, SUMO in the mammalian response to DNA damage, Biochem. Soc. Trans. 38 (Pt 1) (2010) 92–97.
- [42] J.R. Morris, More modifiers move on DNA damage, Cancer Res. 70 (10) (2010) 3861–3863.
- [43] H.D. Ulrich, The fast-growing business of SUMO chains, Mol. Cell. 32(3)(2008) 301–305.
- [44] M.H. Tatham, et al., Polymeric chains of SUMO-2 and SUMO-3 are conjugated to protein substrates by SAE1/SAE2 and Ubc9, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (38) (2001) 35368–35374.
- [46] J.H. Kim, S.H. Baek, Emerging roles of desumoylating enzymes, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1792 (3) (2009) 155–162.
- [47] A. Di Bacco, et al., The SUMO-specific protease SENP5 is required for cell division, Mol. Cell Biol. 26 (12) (2006) 4489–4498.
- [48] J. Cheng, et al., SUMO-specific protease 1 is essential for stabilization of HIF1alpha during hypoxia, Cell 131 (3) (2007) 584–595.
- [49] H. Dou, et al., Regulation of DNA repair through deSUMOylation and SUMOylation of replication protein A complex, Mol. Cell 39 (3) (2010) 333–345.

- [50] G. Rabut, M. Peter, Function and regulation of protein neddylation, 'Protein modifications: beyond the usual suspects' review series, EMBO Rep. 9 (10) (2008) 969–976.
- [51] J. Lukas, C. Lukas, J. Bartek, Mammalian cell cycle checkpoints: signalling pathways and their organization in space and time, DNA Repair (Amst) 3 (8–9) (2004) 997–1007.
- [52] S. Panier, D. Durocher, Regulatory ubiquitylation in response to DNA doublestrand breaks, DNA Repair (Amst) 8 (4) (2009) 436–443.
- [53] C.T. Carson, et al., The Mre11 complex is required for ATM activation and the G2/M checkpoint, EMBO J. 22 (24) (2003) 6610–6620.
- [54] J. Falck, J. Coates, S.P. Jackson, Conserved modes of recruitment of ATM, ATR and DNA-PKcs to sites of DNA damage, Nature 434 (7033) (2005) 605–611.
- [55] P.M. Girard, et al., Nbs1 promotes ATM dependent phosphorylation events including those required for G1/S arrest, Oncogene 21 (27) (2002) 4191–4199.
- [56] J.H. Lee, T.T. Paull, ATM activation by DNA double-strand breaks through the Mre11-Rad50-Nbs1 complex, Science 308 (5721) (2005) 551–554.
- [57] T. Uziel, et al., Requirement of the MRN complex for ATM activation by DNA damage, EMBO J. 22 (20) (2003) 5612–5621.
- [58] D. Durocher, S.P. Jackson, A.T.M. DNA-PK, ATR as sensors of DNA damage: variations on a theme? Curr. Opin. Cell. Biol. 13 (2) (2001) 225–231.
- [59] Y. Shiloh, ATM and related protein kinases: safeguarding genome integrity, Nat. Rev. Cancer 3 (3) (2003) 155–168.
- [60] C.A. Lovejoy, D. Cortez, Common mechanisms of PIKK regulation, DNA Repair (Amst) 8 (9) (2009) 1004–1008.
- [61] P.J. Hurley, F. Bunz, ATM and ATR: components of an integrated circuit, Cell Cycle 6 (4) (2007) 414–417.
- [62] R.T. Abraham, Pl 3-kinase related kinases: 'big' players in stress-induced signaling pathways, DNA Repair (Amst) 3 (8–9) (2004) 883–887.
- [63] S. Burma, et al., ATM phosphorylates histone H2AX in response to DNA double-strand breaks, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (45) (2001) 42462–42467.
- [64] E.P. Rogakou, et al., DNA double-stranded breaks induce histone H2AX phosphorylation on serine 139, J. Biol. Chem. 273 (10) (1998) 5858–5868.
- [65] T. Stiff, et al., ATM and DNA-PK function redundantly to phosphorylate H2AX after exposure to ionizing radiation, Cancer Res. 64 (7) (2004) 2390–2396.
- [66] Z. Lou, et al., MDC1 maintains genomic stability by participating in the amplification of ATM-dependent DNA damage signals, Mol. Cell 21 (2) (2006) 187–200.
- [67] G.S. Stewart, et al., MDC1 is a mediator of the mammalian DNA damage checkpoint, Nature 421 (6926) (2003) 961–966.
- [68] M. Stucki, et al., MDC1 directly binds phosphorylated histone H2AX to regulate cellular responses to DNA double-strand breaks, Cell 123 (7) (2005) 1213–1226.
- [69] S. Bekker-Jensen, et al., Dynamic assembly and sustained retention of 53BP1 at the sites of DNA damage are controlled by Mdc1/NFBD1, J. Cell Biol. 170 (2) (2005) 201–211.
- [70] Z. Lou, et al., Mediator of DNA damage checkpoint protein 1 regulates BRCA1 localization and phosphorylation in DNA damage checkpoint control, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (16) (2003) 13599–13602.
- [71] B. Wang, et al., 53BP1, a mediator of the DNA damage checkpoint, Science 298 (5597) (2002) 1435–1438.
- [72] B. Xu, S. Kim, M.B. Kastan, Involvement of Brca1 in S-phase and G(2)phase checkpoints after ionizing irradiation, Mol. Cell Biol. 21 (10) (2001) 3445–3450.
- [73] R.I. Yarden, et al., BRCA1 regulates the G2/M checkpoint by activating Chk1 kinase upon DNA damage, Nat. Genet. 30 (3) (2002) 285–289.
- [74] M.E. Moynahan, et al., Brca1 controls homology-directed DNA repair, Mol. Cell 4 (4) (1999) 511–518.
- [75] J.M. Stark, et al., Genetic steps of mammalian homologous repair with distinct mutagenic consequences, Mol. Cell Biol. 24 (21) (2004) 9305–9316.
- [76] S. Difflippantonio, et al., 53BP1 facilitates long-range DNA end-joining during V(D)J recombination, Nature 456 (7221) (2008) 529–533.
- [77] J.P. Manis, et al., 53BP1 links DNA damage-response pathways to immunoglobulin heavy chain class-switch recombination, Nat. Immunol. 5 (5) (2004) 481–487.
- [78] H.C. Wang, et al., Ataxia telangiectasia mutated and checkpoint kinase 2 regulate BRCA1 to promote the fidelity of DNA end-joining, Cancer Res. 66 (3) (2006) 1391–1400.
- [79] I.M. Ward, et al., 53BP1 is required for class switch recombination, J. Cell Biol. 165 (4) (2004) 459-464.
- [80] J. Zhuang, et al., Checkpoint kinase 2-mediated phosphorylation of BRCA1 regulates the fidelity of nonhomologous end-joining, Cancer Res. 66(3)(2006) 1401–1408.
- [81] M.S. Huen, et al., RNF8 transduces the DNA-damage signal via histone ubiquitylation and checkpoint protein assembly, Cell 131 (5) (2007) 901–914.
- [82] N. Mailand, et al., RNF8 ubiquitylates histones at DNA double-strand breaks and promotes assembly of repair proteins, Cell 131 (5) (2007) 887–900.
- [83] J. Wu, et al., Histone ubiquitination associates with BRCA1-dependent DNA damage response, Mol. Cell Biol. 29 (3) (2008) 849–860.
- [84] R.M. Hofmann, C.M. Pickart, Noncanonical MMS2-encoded ubiquitinconjugating enzyme functions in assembly of novel polyubiquitin chains for DNA repair, Cell 96 (5) (1999) 645–653.
- [85] J.R. Morris, E. Solomon, BRCA1: BARD1 induces the formation of conjugated ubiquitin structures, dependent on K6 of ubiquitin, in cells during DNA replication and repair, Hum. Mol. Genet. 13 (8) (2004) 807–817.
- [86] B. Sobhian, et al., RAP80 targets BRCA1 to specific ubiquitin structures at DNA damage sites, Science 316 (5828) (2007) 1198–1202.

- [87] M.S. Huen, et al., Noncanonical E2 variant-independent function of UBC13 in promoting checkpoint protein assembly, Mol. Cell Biol. 28 (19) (2008) 6104–6112.
- [88] B. Wang, S.J. Elledge, Ubc13/Rnf8 ubiquitin ligases control foci formation of the Rap80/Abraxas/Brca1/Brcc36 complex in response to DNA damage, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 104 (52) (2007) 20759–20763.
- [89] A.T. Noon et al., 53BP1-dependent robust localized KAP-1 phosphorylation is essential for heterochromatic DNA double-strand break repair, Nat. Cell Biol. 12 (2) (2010) 177–184.
- [90] M.A. Santos et al., Class switching and meiotic defects in mice lacking the E3 ubiquitin ligase RNF8, J. Exp. Med. 207 (5) (2010) 973–981.
- [91] L. Li et al., Rnf8 deficiency impairs class switch recombination, spermatogenesis, and genomic integrity and predisposes for cancer, J. Exp. Med. 207 (5) (2010) 983–997.
- [92] S. Ramachandran et al., The RNF8/RNF168 ubiquitin ligase cascade facilitates class switch recombination, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 107 (2) (2010) 809–814.
- [93] L.Y. Lu et al., RNF8-dependent histone modifications regulate nucleosome removal during spermatogenesis, Dev. Cell 18 (3) (2010) 371–384.
- [94] M. Windheim, et al., Interleukin-1 (IL-1) induces the Lys63-linked polyubiquitination of IL-1 receptor-associated kinase 1 to facilitate NEMO binding and the activation of IkappaBalpha kinase, Mol. Cell Biol. 28 (5) (2008) 1783– 1791.
- [95] P.L. Andersen, F. Xu, W. Xiao, Eukaryotic DNA damage tolerance and translesion synthesis through covalent modifications of PCNA, Cell. Res. 18(1)(2008) 162–173.
- [96] S. Nakada, et al., Non-canonical inhibition of DNA damage-dependent ubiquitylation by OTUB1, Nature 466 (2010) 941–946.
- [97] L. Penengo, et al., Crystal structure of the ubiquitin binding domains of rabex-5 reveals two modes of interaction with ubiquitin, Cell 124 (6) (2006) 1183–1195.
- [98] J. Huang, et al., RAD18 transmits DNA damage signalling to elicit homologous recombination repair, Nat. Cell Biol. 11 (5) (2009) 592–603.
- [99] S. Bekker-Jensen et al., HERC2 coordinates ubiquitin-dependent assembly of DNA repair factors on damaged chromosomes, Nat. Cell Biol. 12 (1) (2010) 80–86, sup 1–12.
- [100] J.R. Morris, et al., The SUMO modification pathway is involved in the BRCA1 response to genotoxic stress, Nature 462 (7275) (2009) 886–890.
- [101] Y. Galanty, et al., Mammalian SUMO E3-ligases PIAS1 and PIAS4 promote responses to DNA double-strand breaks, Nature 462 (7275) (2009) 935–939.
- [102] H. Kim, J. Chen, X. Yu, Ubiquitin-binding protein RAP80 mediates BRCA1dependent DNA damage response, Science 316 (5828) (2007) 1202–1205.
- [103] Z. Liu, J. Wu, X. Yu, CCDC98 targets BRCA1 to DNA damage sites, Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 14 (8) (2007) 716–720.
- [104] B. Wang, et al., Abraxas and RAP80 form a BRCA1 protein complex required for the DNA damage response, Science 316 (5828) (2007) 1194–1198.
- [105] J. Yan, et al., The ubiquitin-interacting motif containing protein RAP80 interacts with BRCA1 and functions in DNA damage repair response, Cancer Res. 67 (14) (2007) 6647–6656.
- [106] M.V. Botuyan, et al., Structural basis for the methylation state-specific recognition of histone H4-K20 by 53BP1 and Crb2 in DNA repair, Cell 127 (7) (2006) 1361–1373.
- [107] G. Li, et al., Rapid spontaneous accessibility of nucleosomal DNA, Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 12 (1) (2005) 46–53.
- [108] S. Sofueva, et al., BRCT domain interactions with phospho-histone H2A target Crb2 to chromatin at double-strand breaks and maintain the DNA damage checkpoint, Mol. Cell Biol. 30 (19) (2010) 4732–4743.
- [109] S.L. Sanders, A.R. Arida, F.P. Phan, Requirement for the phospho-H2ax binding module of Crb2 in double strand break targeting and checkpoint activation, Mol. Cell Biol. 30 (19) (2010) 4722–4731.
- [110] J.A. Simon, R.E. Kingston, Mechanisms of polycomb gene silencing: knowns and unknowns, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell. Biol. 10 (10) (2009) 697–708.
- [111] C.E. Lilley et al., A viral E3 ligase targets RNF8 and RNF168 to control histone ubiquitination and DNA damage responses, EMBO J. 29 (5) (2010) 943–955.
- [112] N.M. Shanbhag, et al., ATM-dependent chromatin changes silence transcription in cis to DNA double-strand breaks, Cell 141 (6) (2010) 970–981.
- [113] H. Joenje, K.J. Patel, The emerging genetic and molecular basis of Fanconi anaemia, Nat. Rev. Genet. 2 (6) (2001) 446–457.
- [114] M. Carreau, et al., Drug sensitivity spectra in Fanconi anemia lymphoblastoid cell lines of defined complementation groups, Mutat. Res. 435 (1) (1999) 103–109.
- [115] G. Duckworth-Rysiecki, A.M. Taylor, Effects of ionizing radiation on cells from Fanconi's anemia patients, Cancer Res. 45 (1) (1985) 416–420.
- [116] K.J. Patel, H. Joenje, Fanconi anemia and DNA replication repair, DNA Repair (Amst) 6 (7) (2007) 885–890.
- [117] W. Wang, Emergence of a DNA-damage response network consisting of Fanconi anaemia and BRCA proteins, Nat. Rev. Genet. 8 (10) (2007) 735–748.
- [118] A. Alpi, et al., UBE2T, the Fanconi anemia core complex, and FANCD2 are recruited independently to chromatin: a basis for the regulation of FANCD2 monoubiquitination, Mol. Cell Biol. 27 (24) (2007) 8421–8430.
- [119] I. Garcia-Higuera, et al., Interaction of the Fanconi anemia proteins and BRCA1 in a common pathway, Mol. Cell 7 (2) (2001) 249–262.
- [120] Y.J. Machida, et al., UBE2T is the E2 in the Fanconi anemia pathway and undergoes negative autoregulation, Mol. Cell 23 (4) (2006) 589–596.
- [121] A. Smogorzewska, et al., Identification of the FANCI protein, a monoubiquitinated FANCD2 paralog required for DNA repair, Cell 129 (2) (2007) 289–301.

- [122] A.E. Sims, et al., FANCI is a second monoubiquitinated member of the Fanconi anemia pathway, Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 14 (6) (2007) 564–567.
- [123] J.C. Dorsman, et al., Identification of the Fanconi anemia complementation group I gene, FANCI, Cell. Oncol. 29 (3) (2007) 211–218.
- [124] J.M. Kim, et al., Cell cycle-dependent chromatin loading of the Fanconi anemia core complex by FANCM/FAAP24, Blood 111 (10) (2008) 5215–5222.
- [125] A.R. Meetei, Z. Yan, W. Wang, FANCL replaces BRCA1 as the likely ubiquitin ligase responsible for FANCD2 monoubiquitination, Cell Cycle 3 (2) (2004) 179–181.
- [126] R. Montes de Oca, et al., Regulated interaction of the Fanconi anemia protein, FANCD2, with chromatin, Blood 105 (3) (2005) 1003–1009.
- [127] A. Shimamura, et al., A novel diagnostic screen for defects in the Fanconi anemia pathway, Blood 100 (13) (2002) 4649–4654.
- [128] M. Ishiai, et al., FANCI phosphorylation functions as a molecular switch to turn on the Fanconi anemia pathway, Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 15 (11) (2008) 1138–1146.
- [129] W. Wang, A major switch for the Fanconi anemia DNA damage-response pathway, Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 15 (11) (2008) 1128–1130.
- [130] L.D.D. O'Donnell, DNA repair has a new FAN1 club, Mol. Cell 39 (2010) 167-169.
- [131] K. Kratz, et al., Deficiency of FANCD2-associated nuclease KIAA1018/FAN1 sensitizes cells to interstrand crosslinking agents, Cell 142 (1) (2010) 77–88.
- [132] T. Liu, G. Ghosal, J. Yuan, J. Chen, J. Huang, FAN1 acts with FANCI-FANCD2 to promote DNA interstrand cross-links repair, Science 39 (2) (2010) 167–169.
- [133] C. MacKay, et al., Identification of KIAA1018/FAN1, a DNA repair nuclease recruited to DNA damage by monoubiquitinated FANCD2, Cell 142 (1) (2010) 65–76.
- [134] A. Smogorzewska, et al., A genetic screen identifies FAN1, a Fanconi anemiaassociated nuclease necessary for DNA interstrand crosslink repair, Mol. Cell 39 (1) (2010) 36–47.
- [135] G.L. Moldovan, B. Pfander, S. Jentsch, PCNA, the maestro of the replication fork, Cell 129 (4) (2007) 665–679.
- [136] M. Budzowska, R. Kanaar, Mechanisms of dealing with DNA damage-induced replication problems, Cell Biochem. Biophys. 53 (1) (2009) 17–31.
- [137] C. Hoege, et al., RAD6-dependent DNA repair is linked to modification of PCNA by ubiquitin and SUMO, Nature 419 (6903) (2002) 135–141.
- [138] K. Watanabe, et al., Rad18 guides poleta to replication stalling sites through physical interaction and PCNA monoubiquitination, EMBO J. 23 (19) (2004) 3886–3896.
- [139] H.D. Ulrich, S. Jentsch, Two RING finger proteins mediate cooperation between ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes in DNA repair, EMBO J. 19 (13) (2000) 3388–3397.
- [140] Y. Daigaku, A.A. Davies, H.D. Ulrich, Ubiquitin-dependent DNA damage bypass is separable from genome replication, Nature 465 (7300) (2010) 951–955.
- [141] G.I. Karras, S. Jentsch, The RAD6 DNA damage tolerance pathway operates uncoupled from the replication fork and is functional beyond S phase, Cell 141 (2) (2010) 255–267.
- [142] P.L. Kannouche, J. Wing, A.R. Lehmann, Interaction of human DNA polymerase eta with monoubiquitinated PCNA: a possible mechanism for the polymerase switch in response to DNA damage, Mol. Cell 14 (4) (2004) 491–500.
- [143] P. Stelter, H.D. Ulrich, Control of spontaneous and damage-induced mutagenesis by SUMO and ubiquitin conjugation, Nature 425 (6954) (2003) 188–191.
- [144] M. Bienko, et al., Regulation of translesion synthesis DNA polymerase eta by monoubiquitination, Mol. Cell 37 (3) (2010) 396–407.
- [145] M. Bienko, et al., Ubiquitin-binding domains in Y-family polymerases regulate translesion synthesis, Science 310 (5755) (2005) 1821–1824.
- [146] J.C. Harrison, J.E. Haber, Surviving the breakup: the DNA damage checkpoint, Annu. Rev. Genet. 40 (2006) 209–235.
- [147] M.B. Kastan, J. Bartek, Cell-cycle checkpoints and cancer, Nature 432 (7015) (2004) 316–323.
- [148] K. Vermeulen, D.R. Van Bockstaele, Z.N. Berneman, The cell cycle: a review of regulation, deregulation and therapeutic targets in cancer, Cell Prolif. 36 (3) (2003) 131–149.
- [149] D. Guardavaccaro, M. Pagano, Stabilizers and destabilizers controlling cell cycle oscillators, Mol. Cell 22 (1) (2006) 1–4.
- [150] T. Cardozo, M. Pagano, The SCF ubiquitin ligase: insights into a molecular machine, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 5 (9) (2004) 739–751.
- [151] J.M. Peters, The anaphase promoting complex/cyclosome: a machine designed to destroy, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 7 (9) (2006) 644–656.
- [152] N. Mailand, et al., Rapid destruction of human Cdc25A in response to DNA damage, Science 288 (5470) (2000) 1425–1429.
- [153] M. Molinari, et al., Human Cdc25 A inactivation in response to S phase inhibition and its role in preventing premature mitosis, EMBO Rep. 1 (1) (2000) 71–79.
- [154] J. Falck, et al., The ATM-Chk2-Cdc25A checkpoint pathway guards against radioresistant DNA synthesis, Nature 410 (6830) (2001) 842–847.
- [155] C.S. Sorensen, et al., Chk1 regulates the S phase checkpoint by coupling the physiological turnover and ionizing radiation-induced accelerated proteolysis of Cdc25A, Cancer Cell 3 (3) (2003) 247–258.
- [156] J. Jin, et al., SCFbeta-TRCP links Chk1 signaling to degradation of the Cdc25A protein phosphatase, Genes Dev. 17 (24) (2003) 3062–3074.
- [157] L. Busino, et al., Degradation of Cdc25A by beta-TrCP during S phase and in response to DNA damage, Nature 426 (6962) (2003) 87–91.
- [158] I. Hassepass, R. Voit, I. Hoffmann, Phosphorylation at serine 75 is required for UV-mediated degradation of human Cdc25A phosphatase at the S-phase checkpoint, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (32) (2003) 29824–29829.

- [159] A. Goloudina, et al., Regulation of human Cdc25A stability by Serine 75 phosphorylation is not sufficient to activate a S phase checkpoint, Cell Cycle 2 (5) (2003) 473–478.
- [160] Y. Honaker, H. Piwnica-Worms, Casein kinase 1 functions as both penultimate and ultimate kinase in regulating Cdc25A destruction, Oncogene 29 (23) (2010) 3324–3334.
- [161] M. Melixetian, et al., NEK11 regulates CDC25A degradation and the IR-induced G2/M checkpoint, Nat. Cell Biol. 11 (10) (2009) 1247–1253.
- [162] C.S. Sorensen, et al., NEK11: linking CHK1 and CDC25A in DNA damage checkpoint signaling, Cell Cycle 9 (3) (2010) 450–455.
- [163] N. Mailand, et al., Destruction of Claspin by SCFbetaTrCP restrains Chk1 activation and facilitates recovery from genotoxic stress, Mol. Cell 23 (3) (2006) 307–318.
- [164] A. Peschiaroli, et al., SCFbetaTrCP-mediated degradation of Claspin regulates recovery from the DNA replication checkpoint response, Mol. Cell 23 (3) (2006) 319–329.
- [165] I. Mamely, et al., Polo-like kinase-1 controls proteasome-dependent degradation of Claspin during checkpoint recovery, Curr. Biol. 16 (19) (2006) 1950–1955.
- [166] A. Kumagai, W.G. Dunphy, Claspin, a novel protein required for the activation of Chk1 during a DNA replication checkpoint response in Xenopus egg extracts, Mol. Cell 6 (4) (2000) 839–849.
- [167] S. Liu, et al., Claspin operates downstream of TopBP1 to direct ATR signaling towards Chk1 activation, Mol. Cell Biol. 26 (16) (2006) 6056–6064.
- [168] C.C. Chini, J. Chen, Human claspin is required for replication checkpoint control, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (32) (2003) 30057–30062.
- [169] C.C. Chini, J. Chen, Repeated phosphopeptide motifs in human Claspin are phosphorylated by Chk1 and mediate Claspin function, J. Biol. Chem. 281 (44) (2006) 33276–33282.
- [170] C.C. Chini, J. Wood, J. Chen, Chk1 is required to maintain claspin stability, Oncogene 25 (30) (2006) 4165–4171.
- [171] E. Manchado, M. Eguren, M. Malumbres, The anaphase-promoting complex/cyclosome (APC/C): cell-cycle-dependent and -independent functions, Biochem. Soc. Trans. 38 (Pt 1) 65–71.
- [172] C.M. Pfleger, M.W. Kirschner, The KEN box: an APC recognition signal distinct from the D box targeted by Cdh1, Genes Dev. 14 (6) (2000) 655–665.
- [173] G. Fang, H. Yu, M.W. Kirschner, Direct binding of CDC20 protein family members activates the anaphase-promoting complex in mitosis and G1, Mol. Cell 2 (2) (1998) 163–171.
- [174] J.A. Pesin, T.L. Orr-Weaver, Regulation of APC/C activators in mitosis and meiosis, Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 24 (2008) 475–499.
- [175] R. Agami, R. Bernards, Distinct initiation and maintenance mechanisms cooperate to induce G1 cell cycle arrest in response to DNA damage, Cell 102 (1) (2000) 55–66.
- [176] F. Bassermann, et al., The Cdc14B-Cdh1-Plk1 axis controls the G2 DNAdamage-response checkpoint, Cell 134 (2) (2008) 256–267.
- [177] D. Zhang, et al., A role for the deubiquitinating enzyme USP28 in control of the DNA-damage response, Cell 126 (3) (2006) 529–542.
- [178] H. Faustrup, et al., USP7 counteracts SCFbetaTrCP- but not APCCdh1-mediated proteolysis of Claspin, J. Cell Biol. 184 (1) (2009) 13–19.
- [179] D. Komander, M.J. Clague, S. Urbe, Breaking the chains: structure and function of the deubiquitinases, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 10 (8) (2009) 550–563.
 [180] F.E. Reyes-Turcu, K.H. Ventii, K.D. Wilkinson, Regulation and cellular roles of
- [180] F.E. Reyes-Turcu, K.H. Ventii, K.D. Wilkinson, Regulation and cellular roles of ubiquitin-specific deubiquitinating enzymes, Annu. Rev. Biochem. 78 (2009) 363–397.
- [181] F.E. Reyes-Turcu, K.D. Wilkinson, Polyubiquitin binding and disassembly by deubiquitinating enzymes, Chem. Rev. 109 (4) (2009) 1495–1508.
- [182] D. Komander, et al., Molecular discrimination of structurally equivalent Lys 63-linked and linear polyubiquitin chains, EMBO Rep. 10 (5) (2009) 466–473.

- [183] K.H. Ventii, K.D. Wilkinson, Protein partners of deubiquitinating enzymes, Biochem J. 414 (2) (2008) 161–175.
- [184] M.J. Edelmann, et al., Structural basis and specificity of human otubain 1mediated deubiquitination, Biochem J. 418 (2) (2009) 379–390.
- [185] T. Wang, et al., Evidence for bidentate substrate binding as the basis for the K48 linkage specificity of otubain 1, J. Mol. Biol. 386 (4) (2009) 1011–1023.
 [186] M. Hu, et al., Structure and mechanisms of the proteasome-associated deu-
- biquitinating enzyme USP14, EMBO J. 24 (21) (2005) 3747–3756. [187] D. Komander, et al., The structure of the CYLD USP domain explains its speci-
- ficity for Lys63-linked polyubiquitin and reveals a B box module, Mol. Cell 29 (4) (2008) 451–464.
- [188] Y. Dong, et al., Regulation of BRCC, a holoenzyme complex containing BRCA1 and BRCA2, by a signalosome-like subunit and its role in DNA repair, Mol. Cell 12 (5) (2003) 1087–1099.
- [189] G. Shao, et al., The Rap80-BRCC36 de-ubiquitinating enzyme complex antagonizes RNF8-Ubc13-dependent ubiquitination events at DNA double strand breaks, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106 (9) (2009) 3166–3171.
- [190] E.M. Cooper, et al., K63-specific deubiquitination by two JAMM/MPN+ complexes: BRISC-associated Brcc36 and proteasomal Poh1, EMBO J. 28 (6) (2009) 621–631.
- [191] F. Nicassio, et al., Human USP3 is a chromatin modifier required for S phase progression and genome stability, Curr. Biol. 17 (22) (2007) 1972–1977.
- [192] H.Y. Joo, et al., Regulation of cell cycle progression and gene expression by H2A deubiquitination, Nature 449 (7165) (2007) 1068-1072.
- [193] S.Y. Cai, R.W. Babbitt, V.T. Marchesi, A mutant deubiquitinating enzyme (Ubp-M) associates with mitotic chromosomes and blocks cell division, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 96 (6) (1999) 2828–2833.
- [194] S. Giunta, R. Belotserkovskaya, S.P. Jackson, DNA damage signaling in response to double-strand breaks during mitosis, J. Cell Biol. 190 (2) (2010) 197–207.
- [195] S. Nakada, et al., Non-canonical inhibition of DNA damage-dependent ubiquitination by OTUB1, Nature 466 (7309) (2010) 941–946.
 [100] S. M. Nijimez and The dambasis of the state of
- [196] S.M. Nijman, et al., The deubiquitinating enzyme USP1 regulates the Fanconi anemia pathway, Mol. Cell 17 (3) (2005) 331–339.
- [197] T.T. Huang, et al., Regulation of monoubiquitinated PCNA by DUB autocleavage, Nat. Cell Biol. 8 (4) (2006) 339-347.
- [198] P.L. Kannouche, A.R. Lehmann, Ubiquitination of PCNA and the polymerase switch in human cells, Cell Cycle 3 (8) (2004) 1011–1013.
- [199] V.H. Oestergaard, et al., Deubiquitination of FANCD2 is required for DNA crosslink repair, Mol. Cell 28 (5) (2007) 798-809.
- [200] J.M. Kim, et al., Inactivation of murine Usp1 results in genomic instability and a Fanconi anemia phenotype, Dev. Cell 16 (2) (2009) 314–320.
- [201] T.A. Soucy, P.G. Smith, M. Rolfe, Targeting NEDD8-activated cullin-RING ligases for the treatment of cancer, Clin. Cancer Res. 15 (12) (2009) 3912–3916.
- [202] T.A. Soucy, et al., An inhibitor of NEDD8-activating enzyme as a new approach to treat cancer, Nature 458 (7239) (2009) 732–736.
- [203] S. Orlicky, et al., An allosteric inhibitor of substrate recognition by the SCF(Cdc4) ubiquitin ligase, Nat. Biotechnol. 28 (7) (2010) 733–737.
- [204] M. Aghajan, et al., Chemical genetics screen for enhancers of rapamycin identifies a specific inhibitor of an SCF family E3 ubiquitin ligase, Nat. Biotechnol. 28 (7) (2010) 738–742.
- [205] Y. Liu, et al., Discovery of inhibitors that elucidate the role of UCH-L1 activity in the H1299 lung cancer cell line, Chem. Biol. 10 (9) (2003) 837–846.
- [206] A.H. Mermerian, et al., Structure-activity relationship, kinetic mechanism, and selectivity for a new class of ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase-L1 (UCH-L1) inhibitors, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 17 (13) (2007) 3729–3732.
- [207] K. Ratia, et al., A noncovalent class of papain-like protease/deubiquitinase inhibitors blocks SARS virus replication, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 105 (42) (2008) 16119–16124.